ABSTRACT

Title: PRELIMINARY GENETIC CHARACTERIZATION OF RIBOSOMAL PROTEIN L10 IN SACCHAROMYCES CEREVISIAE Mary Kecia Rigsby Simmons, M.S., 2005 Directed By: Dr. J. D. Dinman, Cell Biology and Molecular Genetics

While recent research has focused on the exciting concept of the ribosome as a ribozyme, ribosomal proteins have been largely overlooked. This study focuses on four previously identified mutants of the ribosomal large subunit protein L10, in an effort to better understand how the protein's structure corresponds to its function. All of the mutants studied displayed how the embedded nature of L10 caused only slight conformational changes to impact function of the ribosome as a whole; in these cases primarily altering the interaction between the ribosomal A-site and aminoacyl-tRNAs.

GENETIC CHARACTERIZATION OF RIBOSOMAL PROTEIN L10 IN

SACCHAROMYCES CEREVISIAE

By

Mary Kecia Rigsby Simmons

Thesis submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate School of the University of Maryland, College Park, in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science 2005

Advisory Committee:

Dr. J. D. Dinman, Chair Dr. R. Stewart Dr. J. Culver © Copyright by Mary Kecia Rigsby Simmons 2005

Dedication

To Anni, John, and most especially Matthew,

without whom this body of work would not exist

Acknowledgments

This author would like to acknowledge the invaluable support provided by both Todd Cooke and Nancy Williams, to thank the members of the Dinman lab for their support and advice, and to thank Dr. Stewart and Dr. Culver for both serving on the committee as well as for their presence as positive role models for the graduate student body.

Table of Contents

List of Tables			
List of Figuresvi			
Chapter 1: Introduction			
Maintenance of Frame by the Translating Ribosome1			
Ribosomal Proteins and Maintenance of Frame2			
<i>RPL10</i>			
<i>RPL10</i> mutants			
Summary9			
Chapter 2: Materials and Methods10			
Strains, General Procedures, and Media10			
Killer Assay 10			
dsRNA visualization11			
Dual Luciferase Assay11			
Dilution Spot Assay			
Computational Analyses13			
Chapter 3: Results			
Frameshifting14			
Pharmacogenetics			
Chapter 4: Discussion			
<i>qsr1-24</i>			
Bibliography			

List of Tables

Table 1: Yeast Strains	8
Table 2: Plasmids	11

List of Figures

Figure 1: Translation and Frameshifting	3	
Figure 2: <i>RPL10</i> and Homology	6	
Figure 3: L10 and Environment	7	
Figure 4: Maintenance of Killer	15	
Figure 5: Frameshifting Efficiencies	16	
Figure 6: Antibiotic Responses	17	

Chapter 1: Introduction

All organisms employ large ribonucleoprotein complexes known as ribosomes in order to catalyze the process of protein synthesis. From our earliest understanding as an RNA scaffolding unit solely extant for the positioning of the proteins responsible for performing the process of translation, to the more recent understanding of the ribosome as a ribozyme [1,2], the ribosome's central role in the function of the cell has made it a subject of intense scrutiny. Recent research, however, has focused on the centrality of the rRNA to the functions of the ribosome, instead of the ribosomal proteins [3].

Maintenance of Frame by the Translating Ribosome

Since the role of the ribosome is primarily to translate mRNA into polypeptides, maintenance of translational reading frame is a crucial aspect of its function. Despite this stricture, a surprising number of elements work to undermine this function. Slipping, hopping, and shunting all allow the ribosome to deviate from normal decoding rules [4,5]. Programmed ribosomal frameshifting (PRF) is the most widespread variant of such mechanisms; it is found in animal, plant, and fungal viruses, bacteriophages, and even some cellular genes [6-8]. PRF is a non-random response to *cis*- acting signals within mRNA transcripts that cause translating ribosomes to shift reading frame, usually by a single nucleotide in the 5' (-1) or 3' (+1) direction, allowing them to continue elongation in the new frame (Figure 1; [4,6,7,9-11]). These *cis*-acting signals and their corresponding effects on PRF are well characterized; *trans*-acting factors less well so. Many viruses of clinical, veterinary, and agricultural importance use PRF as a method of maximizing coding space in a space-limiting genome [12-14]. Additionally, PRF can serve as a regulatory mechanism to control the relative amounts of proteins produced. For example, the L-A virus of yeast employs a -1 PRF to produce its Gag-pol fusion protein [15,16], and if this delicate balance is disturbed by a change in PRF efficiency, virus maintenance is placed in jeopardy [reviewed in 17]. Such a change in -1 PRF efficiency in this case results also in the loss of the killer phenotype due to the loss of L-A 's M₁ satellite virus, which encodes a killer toxin [reviewed in 18]. Similarly, Ty*1*, a yeast retrotransposable element, uses +1 PRF to produce its Gag-pol protein, a process which evidences a similar sensitivity to changes in frameshifting efficiencies as its -1 PRF counterpart. Remarkably, the basic molecular mechanisms of -1 PRF is identical in yeast and humans [6,17].

Ribosomal Proteins and Maintenance of Frame

This serendipitous relationship between ribosome function and viral maintenance can be manipulated to examine ribosomal component function [reviewed in 7]. PRF efficiency can be affected by various structural modifications within the ribosome that lead to alterations of normal ribosome function. Previous findings have linked changes in +1 PRF to changes in the translocation step of the translation elongation pathway [19] and -1 PRF to the accomodation step (Figure 1; [11]). The natures of two large subunit proteins, for example, have previously

2



In Ty 1-mediated +1 PRF (a), the presence of the AGG in the 0-frame of the heptameric CUU AGG C 'slippery site' (where the incoming frame is indicated by spaces) causes elongating ribosomes to pause while awaiting delivery of the rare CCU-tRNAArg. Slippage of the ribosome by one base in the 3' direction during this pause allows the P-site tRNA to base-pair to the +1-frame GGC codon. The new A-site codon corresponds to the highly abundant CCG-tRNAGly. When viewed in the context of the elongation cycle, this slip can only occur when the A-site is empty; that is, after translocation and before insertion of aa-tRNA in complex with eukaryotic Elongation Factor 1A (eEF1A) into the A-site. The elongation cycle (b) can be divided into four general steps: (1) selection of cognate aminoacyltRNA (aa-tRNA); (2) accommodation of the 3' end of the aa-tRNA into the ribosomal A-site; (3) peptidyl transfer; and (4) eukaryotic Elongation Factor 2 (eEF2) mediated translocation. In a -1 PRF signal (c) an mRNA pseudoknot causes elongating ribosomes to pause with their A- and P-site tRNAs positioned over the heptameric X XXY YYZ 'slippery site' (where the incoming frame is indicated by spaces). The G GGU UUA slippery site from the L-A dsRNA virus of yeast is shown here. While paused at the slippery site, if the ribosome shifts by one base in the 5' direction, the non-wobble bases of both the A- and P-site tRNAs can re-pair with the new -1-frame codons. As both A- and P-sites must be occupied by tRNAs, in theory this shift should occur after step 1 but before step 4 of the elongation cycle (indicated by black and red dotted lines). The experimental data suggest that the -1shift is actually limited to pre-peptidyltransfer ribosomes (black dotted lines). Taken from [11]; used with permission.

been elucidated by our lab in this fashion. Cells with the *mak8-1* allele of *RPL3* were found to be unable to maintain the killer phenotype [20,21], and were later found to have elevated -1 PRF efficiencies [22]. Ribosomes isolated from cells with *mak8* alleles showed decreased peptidyltransferase activities [23], reinforcing the idea that post-accomodation ribosomes with both A and P sites occupied pause for longer periods of time at -1 frameshift signals, thus increasing -1 PRF efficiency [24]. The residues involved in the mutants studied are highly conserved, and located near the peptidyltransferase center [25]. Mutants of *RPL5*, on the other hand, caused increased frameshifting efficiencies in both the -1 and the +1 directions. Further analyses of these mutants using pharmacological methods found that sparsomcycin, a known Psite associated peptidyltransferase inhibitor [26],was antagonistic to the frameshifting defeects, which points to L5's role in anchoring peptidyl tRNA to the P site [27].

<u>RPL10</u>

In yeast, L10, a 25.4 kDa ribosomal large subunit protein, is encoded by the single-copy essential gene *RPL10*. It has also been previously identified as *GRC5* (<u>GR</u>owth <u>Control</u>; [28]), *QSR1* (Quinol-cytochrome c reductase <u>Subunit Requiring</u>; [29]), and *RIX7* (<u>RI</u>bosomal e<u>X</u>port; [30]). Its expression has been linked to the suppression of tumors in a Wilm's tumor cell line [31], and is it is known to be essential for subunit joining [32] and for 60s subunit stability [33]. It has no exact counterpart in *E.coli*, but in archaea, plants, and animals there are homologues (Figure 2; [31,34,35]). L10 is located on the lateral stalk of the large subunit, and makes contact with almost all of the functional regions of the large subunit: 5S rRNA,

4

the A-minor motif in helix 38, helix 39, the GTPase-associated center, and the P-loop (Figure 3; [25]). Given its location, one would expect mutations of this strategically placed protein to yield information about how general structure of ribosomal proteins may influence function, and, specifically, whether L10 is functionally compartmentalized or whether it is responsible for coordinating information from the many regions of the ribosome it contacts, as well as indicate with more precision the roles of L10 within the ribosome.

<u>RPL10 mutants</u>

With this goal in mind, our lab obtained a variety of *RPL10* alleles from the lab of Dr. Arlen Johnson (Table 1). These alleles had been found, in unrelated screens, to express various mutant phenotypes. *ts942* was found by the Jacobsen lab via a temperature-sensitivity screen for factors involved in mRNA turnover – a process in which translation plays an important part. This point mutation was found to decrease the decay rates of unstable mRNAs, even though overall protein synthesis was not decreased [35].

Microscopic study and FACs analysis of *grc5-1*^{ts} indicated a role for L10 in cell morphology and in growth regulation [37], and this mutant displayed a half -mer phenotype in polysome profiles, due to the disruption of intersubunit binding [38,32]. Intriguingly, a nearby double-amino acid substitution, *qsr1-24*, displayed a considerably different phenotype than its neighbor; it was found to have only a slight temperature dependent loss of viability and did not show the previous phenotype's related accumulation of cell wall material [39]. A fourth mutation, *qsr1-1*, has been

5

gi | 57284207 REKRVRPPPVSYRGRQTHFHSAWSYRYCKNKPYPKSRFCRGVPDAKIRIF 50 YLR075W ---MARRP-----ARCYRYQKNKPYPKSRYNRAVPDSKIRIY 34 gi|55231756 ---MSDKP------ASMYRDIDKPAYTRREYITGIPGSKIAQH 34 * ** *** * gi | 57284207 DLGRKKAKVDEFPLCGHMVSDEYEQLSSEALEAARICANKYMVKSCGKDG 100 YLR075W DLGKKKATVDEFPLCVHLVSNELEQLSSEALEAARICANKYMTTVSGRDA 84 gi | 55231756 KMGRKQKDADDYPVQISLIVEETVQLRHGSLEASRLSANRHLIKELGEEG 84 * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * gi|57284207 -FHIRVRLHPFHVIRINKMLSCAGADRLQTGMRGAFGKPQGTVARVHIGQ 149 YLR075W FHLRVRVHPFHVLRINKMLSCAGADRLQQGMRGAWGKPHGLAARVDIGQ 133 gi | 55231756 [YKMTLRKFPHQVLRENKQATGAGADRVSDGMRAAFGKIVGTAARVQAGE 134 gi|57284207 VIMSIRTKLQNKEHVIEALRRAKFKFFGRQKIHISKKWGFTKFNADEFED 199 YLR075W IIFSVRTKDSNKDVVVEGLRRARYKFFGQQKTILSKKWGFTNLDRPEYLK 183 gi | 55231756 QLFTAYCNVEDAEHVKEAFRRAYNKITPSCRIKVERGEELLIA----- 177

CLUSTAL W (1.82) multiple sequence alignment

gi 57284207 YLR075W gi 55231756	MVAEKRLIPDGCGVKYIPNRGPLDKWRALHS 2: KREAGEVKDDGAFVKFLSKKGSLENNIREFPEYFAAQA 2:	30 21

Figure 2: RPL10 Homology

ClustalW alignment [36] of human, yeast, and H. marismortui RPL10 sequences.

Boxes enclose mutation sites addressed in this study.



Figure 3: L10 and environment

L10 is located between many major players in the translating ribosomes. Pictured here is L10e ("H-chain") and nearby large subunit rRNA, color-coded according to region.

strain	mutation	genotype	references
ts942	F85S	MATa lys2 Δ 0 met15 Δ 0 leu2 Δ 0 ura3 Δ 0 his3 Δ 0	Zuk et al 99
grc5-1 ^{ts}	G161A	MATa leu2 Δ 0 ura3 Δ 0 grc5-1 ^{ts}	Koller et al 96
	 	MATα ade2 Δ 1, ura3 Δ 1, trp1 Δ 1, can1 Δ 100 qsr1 Δ	
qsr1-24	KI164-5WM	1::His3 + pDEQ2[CEN LEU2 qsr1-24]	Eisinger et al 97
		MAT α ade2 Δ 1, his3 Δ 11,15, ura3 Δ 1, leu2 Δ 3,112,	
qsr1-1	G194A	trp1∆1, can1∆100, qsr1∆1	Tron et al 95
		MATa met15 Δ 0 leu2 Δ 0 ura3 Δ 0 his3 Δ 0;	
JD1243	wild type	rpl10::Kan covered by RPL10 URA3 2µ vector	Zuk et al 99
JD758	-	MATa kar1 ∆1 arg1 L-A HN M1	Tumer et al 98
JD759	-	MATα kar1 Δ1 arg1 thr(i,x) L-A HN M1	Tumer et al 98

Table 1: Yeast Strains

shown to display extremely slow growth due to markedly diminished rates of protein synthesis [33], and its polysome profile was remarkably similar to that of *qsr1-24*. Given the phenotypes of these mutations, it seems likely that further information regarding L10 could be gleaned from them by applying the methods and tools so successfully used on other ribosomal proteins in our lab.

<u>Summary</u>

L10 is a multifunctional protein whose wide range of function is heavily influenced by its structure. It seems likely, therefore, that further investigation into this intriguing structure/function relationship is likely to yield rich information about L10, the ribosome, and the process of translation. I pursued the following: a strictly genetic method, focusing on the relationship of ribosome structure to maintenance of frame and frameshifting during translation, and a pharmacogenetic analysis to investigate the effects of certain antibiotics on mutant forms of *RPL10*.

Chapter 2: Materials and Methods

Strains, General Procedures, and Media

The *S. cerevisiae* strains used in this study were a generous gift from Dr. Arlen Jacobsen and are listed in Table 1. Due to their temperature sensitivities, mutant strains were grown at 25°C unless otherwise noted. Mating types were confirmed as previously described [40]. Confirmation of auxotrophic markers was done via replica plating on media lacking the appropriate nutrient. Plates of YPAD, YPG, SD, synthetic complete media, and 4.7MB were prepared as described previously [41]. DNA sequence analysis was performed by the Center for Biosystems Research DNA Sequencing Facility. *Escherichia coli* strain DH5alpha was used to amplify plasmids as needed, and both transformations using this strain and yeast transformations were carried out as described previously [42]. Plasmids were purified from *E. coli* using a Qiagen kit, and from yeast by phenol extraction of cellular lysates. Plasmids used in this study are listed in Table 2.

Killer Assay

Cytoduction of the L-A and M_1 viruses into rho⁰ strains was done as previously described [41] and cells were picked that were SD- and YPG+. These cells were then scored for their ability to maintain the killer phenotype.

The killer virus assay was carried out as previously described [16]. Yeast colonies were replica plated onto 4.7MB plates freshly seeded with 0.5 O.D.₅₉₅ of the

10

plasmid	function	source
pJD419	LEU2 based zero frame reporter	J.D. Dinman
pJD420	LEU2 based -1 frame reporter	J.D. Dinman
pJD421	LEU2 based +1 frame reporter	J.D. Dinman
pJD633	TRP1 based zero frame reporter	J.D. Dinman
pJD634	TRP1 based -1 frame reporter	J.D. Dinman
pJD635	TRP1 based +1 frame reporter	J.D. Dinman

Table 2: Plasmids

killer indicator strain 5 x 47. Killer activity was defined as a zone of growth inhibition surrounding K^+ colonies after 3 days at 20°C.

dsRNA visualization

dsRNA of L-A and M₁ viruses was visualized using native agarose-TAE gel electrophoresis and ethidium bromide staining after total nucleic acid extraction performed as described previously [43].

Dual Luciferase Assay

Dual luciferase assays were performed as previously described [44] using lysates of cells harboring the appropriate 0-frame, -1 frame, or +1 frame plasmids (Table 2). Reactions were carried out using the Dual-Luciferase Reporter Assay System from Promega Corporation; readings were obtained using a Turner Designs TD20/20 luminometer. The firefly/*Renilla* activity ratio generated from the zeroframe reporter was divided into that from the frameshift reporters and multiplied by 100% to obtain frameshift efficiencies for each recoding signal. All assays were performed in triplicate at least three times. Other statistics were performed as described in [45].

Dilution Spot Assay

Drug sensitivity assays were carried out as described previously [46]. Tenfold serial dilutions of equal numbers of cells grown to saturation were spotted onto medium containing sparsomycin (5 μ g/ml), anisomycin (5 μ g/ml), or paromomycin (600 μ g/ml), as well as YPAD. Sensitivity was indicated by either a severe reduction or a complete lack of growth.

Computational Analyses

The crystal structure of the *H. marismortui* ribosome [25] was visualized using the Swiss PDB viewer.

Chapter 3: Results

Frameshifting

The killer phenotypes of the *rpl10* mutants and that of the wild type strain are shown in Figure 4A. *qsr1-24* is clearly K⁻. Analysis of the dsRNA indicates that *qsr1-24* appears to be M_1^- (Figure 4B), suggesting that the loss of the killer phenotype is the inability of *qsr1-24* to support propagation of M_1 .

Changes in -1 PRF can cause loss of the killer phenotype in yeast. Therefore, as a quantitative measure of frameshifting, dual luciferase assays were performed to determine the exact percentage of PRF (Figure 5). The double mutant *qsr1-24* exhibited the most obvious deviation from wild type, with an efficiency of -1 PRF increased by more than two-fold of the wild type rate. A similar degree of variation in +1 PRF by this mutant was not found, which suggests the defect is more likely to be found in association with the ribosome's A-site. Both *ts942* and *grc5-1*^{ts} exhibit smaller increases in their -1 framshifting efficiencies, whereas *qsr1-1* mimics wild type most closely. Little deviation was seen from wild type levels in +1 frameshifting, with all strains frameshifting near wild type efficiency.

Pharmacogenetics

In order to test the effects of the mutant forms of L10 on ribosomal affinity for aminoacyl- and peptidyl-tRNAs, a pharmacogenetic approach was carried out. (Figure 6) Anisomycin is known to bind in the A-site of the peptidyltransferase center [26], thereby inhibiting the binding of the acceptor end of the aminoacyl-tRNA into



Figure 4: The mutants of RPL10 have differing effects on the yeast killer virus.
(A) Killer assay of strains harboring either wild type or mutant alleles of *RPL10*.
Killer activity is observed as a zone of growth inhibition around the colonies A wild-type strain not inoculated with the killer virus (*RPL10**) is included for comparison.
(B) Total RNA extracted from the strains described in (A) were separated through a 1% TAE agarose gel. L-A and M₁ form bands at 2.5 and 1.8 kbp respectively, as indicated.



Figure 5: Efficiencies of -1 and +1 frameshifting in wild type and mutant strains. Efficiencies are depicted as percent frameshifting, which was calculated by dividing firefly/Renilla luminescence data from the appropriate reporter by similar ratios generated from cells expressing a zero-frame control plasmid.



SparsomycinParomomycinRPL10Image: Comparison of the temperature of tempera

Figure 6: Strains harboring mutant forms of L10 have altered drug sensitivities. Mid log phase cultures of the strains were spotted in ten-fold dilutions onto plain and drug-containing (anisomycin, 5µg/ml; sparsomycin, 5µg/ml; puromomycin, 600µg/ml) media and grown for three days at 25°C. peptidyltransferase center [47,48], and thus is a good indicator of changes specific to the A-site. On anisomycin containing media, $grc5-1^{ts}$ exhibits a wild-type phenotype, whereas ts942 and qsr1-24 are slightly affected, and qsr1-1 displays the most altered phenotype. The exacerbated effect of anisomycin on these three mutants suggests a higher affinity of ribosomes containing these forms of L10 for aa-tRNAs, and point to these mutations, particularly that of qsr1-1, as A-site specific. When assayed for growth in the presence of sparsomycin, an indicator of P-site specific changes [reviewed in 49], little deviation from the wild-type profile was seen. Paromomycin, another A-site specific probe known to stabilize the binding of near cognate tRNAs [50-52], caused hypersensitivity relative to wild type in $grc5-1^{ts}$, which was least affected by anisomycin, reflecting the slight difference in binding between anisomycin and paromomycin [50,26]. ts942 and qsr1-24 also showed increased sensitivity to paromomycin, providing further confirmation of their A-site specificity.

Chapter 4: Discussion

Without proper maintenance of frame by the ribosome, cellular life could not exist. This, as well as the many other crucial functions of the ribosome, depend on the protein-protein and protein-RNA interactions within the structure. As such, ribosomal proteins have come to the forefront of recent research on the relationship between ribosomal structure and function.

It has previously been shown that L10 plays a crucial role in cellular and ribosomal function, impacting everything from cell wall formation to nonsensemediated decay and ribosomal export. Its precise role in the ribosome, however, is still under investigation. In this study, we have linked certain aspects of ribosomal function to specific sites within L10, particularly the mutation site in the strain *qsr1-24*.

<u>qsr1-24</u>

Though located near *grc5-1*^{*ts*}, the rare non-lethal double amino acid mutant at position 164-5 has a decidedly different phenotype from that of its neighbor. The mutation changes what was a polar, basic site to a bulky, nonpolar one at the site of the protein's closest approach to h42 - a site known for its flexibility during ribosomal translocation - and sandwiched between h42 and h38. The sharp increase in rates of -1 frameshifting abolished this strain's ability to support M₁ and its secreted toxin. Due to the embedded location of this mutation, it is perhaps unsurprising that most of the tested antibiotics had little effect on the strain relative to wild type. Since paromomycin's interaction with the ribosome occurs at the decoding center, the

19

observed paromomycin sensitivity offers one possible explanation for the observed changes in frameshifting. Perhaps this mutation points to a site involved in accuracy of the codon:anticodon contacts; the mutation alters this interaction sufficiently cause a more "slippery" A-site, leading to the observed alteration in in -1 PRF due to the intrinsically higher rate of error at the A-site.

All mutants examined in the study showed effects related to the A-site of the ribosome, as expected, due to the location of L10 right where aa-tRNAs are loaded onto the large subunit. *qsr1-24*, in particular, merits further study to determine the precise role the KI₁₆₄₋₅ site plays in A-site function. Furthermore, the strains used in this study were non-isogenic, and subsequent studies should be conducted to investigate whether the observed deviant phenotypes remain in isogenic strains.

Bibliography

- Lilley DM. (2001) The ribosome functions as a ribozyme. *Chembiochem*.
 2:31-35.
- 2. Steitz TA and PB Moore. (2003) RNA, the first macromolecular catalyst: the ribosome is a ribozyme. *Trends Biochem Sci.* 28:411-418.
- Klein DJ, Moore PB and TA Steitz. (2004) The Roles of Ribosomal Proteins in the Structure, Assembly, and Evolution of the Large Ribosomal Subunit. J. Mol. Biol. 340:141-177
- Baranov PV, Gesteland RF and Atkins JF. (2002) Recoding: translational bifurcations in gene expression. *Gene.* 286:187-201.
- 5. Namy O, Rousset JP, Napthine S, and Brierly I. (2004) Reprogrammed genetic decoding in cellular gene expression. *Mol. Cell.* 13:157-168.
- Brierley I. (1995). Ribosomal frameshifting on viral RNAs. J. Gen. Virol. 76:1885-1892.
- Dinman JD. (1995) Ribosomal frameshifting in yeast viruses. *Yeast*. 11:1115-1127.
- Hammell AB, Taylor RC, Peltz SW, and Dinman JD. (1999) Identification of Putative Programmed -1 Ribosomal Frameshift Signals in Large DNA Databases. *Genome Research*. 9:417-427.

- Farabaugh, PJ. (1999) Translational frameshifting: implications for the mechanism of translational frame maintenance. *Prog. Nucleic Acid Res. Mol. Biol.* 64:131-170.
- Gesteland RF and Atkins JF. (1996) Recoding: Dynamic reprogramming of translation. *Annu. Rev. Biochem.* 65:741-768.
- Harger, JW, Meskauskas A, and Dinman JD. (2002) An 'integrated model' of programmed ribosomal frameshifting. *TRENDS in Biochemical Sciences*. 27:448-454.
- Farabaugh, PJ. (1996) Programmed translational frameshifting. *Microbiol Rev.* 60:103-34.
- Jacks T and Varmus HE. (1985) Expression of the Rous sarcoma virus pol gene by ribosomal frameshifting. *Science*. 230:1237-1242.
- Bidou L, Stahl G, Grima B, Liu H, Cassan M, and Rousset JP. (1997) In vivo HIV-1 frameshifting efficiency is directly related to the stability of the stemloop stimulatory signal. *RNA*. 3:1153-8.
- 15. Icho T and Wickner RB. (1989) The double-stranded RNA genome of yeast virus L-A encodes its own putative RNA polymerase by fusing two open reading frames. *J Biol Chem.* 264:6716-6723.
- 16. Dinman JD and Wickner RB. (1992) Ribosomal frameshifting efficiency and gag/gag-pol ratio are critical for yeast M1 double-stranded RNA virus propagation. *Journal of Virology*. 66:3669-3676.

- Dinman JD, Ruiz-Echevarria MJ, and Peltz SW. (1998) Translating old drugs into new treatments: ribosomal frameshifting as a target for antiviral agents. *Trends Biotechnol.* 16:190-6.
- Wickner RB. (1996) Double-stranded RNA viruses of Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Microbiol Rev.* 60:250-265.
- Harger JW, Meskauskas A, Nielsen J, Justice MC, and Dinman JD. (2001) Ty1 Retrotransposition and Programmed +1 Ribosomal Frameshifting Require the Integrity of the Protein Synthetic Translocation Step. *Virology*. 286:216-224.
- 20. Wickner RB and Leibowitz MJ. (1976) Chromosomal genes essential for replication of a double-stranded RNA plasmid of Saccharomyces cerevisiae: the killer character of yeast *J Mol Biol*. 105:427-443.
- Wickner RB, Ridley SP, Fried HM, and Ball SG. (1982) Ribosomal protein L3 is involved in replication or maintenance of the killer double-stranded RNA genome of Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. 79:4706-4708.
- Peltz SW, Hammell AB, Cui Y, Yasenchak J, Puljanowski L, and Dinman JD. (1999) Ribosomal protein L3 mutants alter translational fidelity and promote rapid loss of the yeast killer virus. *Mol Cell Biol.* 19:384-391.
- 23. Petrov A, Meskauskas, A, and Dinman JD. (2004) Ribosomal Protein L3: Influence on Ribosome Structure and Function. *RNA Biology*. 1:59-65.
- 24. Meskauskas A, Harger JW, Jacobs KL, and Dinman JD. (2003) Decreased peptidyltransferase activity correlates with increased programmed -1

ribosomal frameshifting and viral maintenance defects in the yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *RNA*. 9:982-992.

- Ban N, Nissen P, Hansen J, Moore PB, and Steitz TA. (2000) The complete atomic structure of the large ribosomal subunit at 2.4 A resolution. *Science*. 289:905-920.
- Hansen JL, Moore PB, Steitz TA. (2003) Structures of five antibiotics bound at the peptidyl transferase center of the large ribosomal subunit. *J Mol Biol.* 330:1061-1075.
- 27. Meskauskas A and Dinman JD. (2001) Ribosomal protein L5 helps anchor peptidyl-tRNA to the P-site in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Mol Cell Biol.* 21:8264-8275.
- 28. Koller HT, Klade T, Murach KF, and Breitenbach M. (1993) The yeast temperature sensitive mutant *grc5* is involved in metabolic control of growth and survival under starvation conditions. *Biol Hoppe-Seyler*. 374:772.
- 29. Dick FA, Karamanou S, and Trumpower BL. (1997) QSR1, an Essential Yeast Gene with a Genetic Relationship to a Subunit of the Mitochondrial Cytochrome *bc*₁ Complex, Codes for a 60S Ribosomal Subunit Protein. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 272:13372-13379.
- 30. Gadal O, Strauss D, Braspenning J, Hoepfner D, Petfalski E, Philippsen P, Tollervey D, and Hurt E. (2001) A nuclear AAA-type ATPase (Rix7p) is required for biogenesis and nuclear export of 60S ribosomal subunits. *EMBO Journal*. 20:3695-3704.

- 31. Dowdy SF, Lai KM, Weissman BE, Matsui Y, Hogan BLM, and Stanbridge EJ. (1991) The isolation and characterization of a novel cDNA demostrating an altered mRNA level in nontumorigenic Wilms' microcell hybrid cells. *Nucleic Acids Research*. 19:5763-5769.
- 32. Eisinger DP, Dick FA and Trumpower BL. (1997) Qsr1p, a 60S Ribosomal Subunit Protein, Is Required for Joining of 40S and 60S Subunits. *Molecular* and Cellular Biology. 17:5136-5145.
- 33. Dick FA and Trumpower BL. (1998) Heterologous complementation reveals that mutant alleles of QSR1 render 60S ribosomal subunits unstable and translationally inactive. *Nucleic Acids Research*. 26:2442-2448.
- 34. Farmer AA, Loftus TM, Mills AA, Sato KY, Neill JD, Tron T, Yang M, Trumpower BL, and Stanbridge EJ. (1994) Extreme evolutionary conservation of QM, a novel c-Jun associated transcription factor. *Human Molecular Genetics*. 3:723-728.
- 35. Zuk D, Belk JP, and Jacobson A. (1999) Temperature-Sensitive Mutations in the Saccharomyces cerevisiae MRT4, GRC5, SLA2, and THS1 Genes Result in Defects in mRNA Turnover. Genetics. 153:35-47.
- 36. Chenna, Ramu, Sugawara, Hideaki, Koike, Tadashi, Lopez, Rodrigo, Gibson, Toby J, Higgins, Desmond G, Thompson, Julie D. (2003) Multiple sequence alignment with the Clustal series of programs. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 31:3497-3500.

- 37. Koller HT, Klade T, Ellinger A, and Breitenbach M. (1996) The Yeast Growth Control Gene *GRC5* is Highly Homologous to the Mammalian Putative Tumor Suppressor Gene *QM. Yeast.* 12:53-65.
- 38. Oender K, Loeffler M, Doppler E, Eder M, Lach S, Heinrich F, Karl T, Moesl R, Klade T, Eckl P, Dickinson JR, Breitenbach M, and Koller L. (2003) Translational regulator RpL10p/Grc5p interacts physically and functionally with Sed1p, a dynamic comoponent of the yeast cell surface. *Yeast*. 20:281-294.
- 39. Karl T, Onder K, Rimantas K, Pichova A, Wimmer H, Thur A, Hundsberger H, Loffler M, Klade T, Beyer A, Breitenbach M, and Koller L. (1999) GRC5 and NMD3 function in translational control of gene expression and interact genetically. *Current Genetics*. 34:419-429.
- 40. Rose MD, Winston F, and Hieter P. (1990) Methods in Yeast Genetics: A Laboratory Course Manual. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratories, Cold Spring Harbor, NY. 198 pp
- Dinman JD and Wickner RB. (1994) Translational maintenance of frame: mutants of Saccharomyces cerevisiae with altered -1 ribosomal frameshifting effciencies. *Genetics*. 136:75-86.
- 42. Cui Y, Hagan KW, Zhang S, and Peltz SW. (1995) Identification and characterization of genes that are required for the accelerated degradation of mRNAs containing a premature translational termination codon. *Genes Development*. 9:423-36.

- 43. Fried HM and Fink GR. (1978) Electron microscopic heteroduplex analysis of "killer" double-stranded RNA species from yeast. *Protocols of the National Academies Sci USA*. 75:4224-4228.
- 44. Harger JW and Dinman JD. (2003) An in vivo dual-luciferase assay system for studying translational recoding in the yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae.*RNA*. 9:1019-1024.
- 45. Jacobs JL and Dinman JD. (2004) Systematic Analysis of Bicistronic Reporter Assay Data. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 32:e160
- 46. Meskauskas A, Baxter JL, Carr EA, Yasenchak J, Gallagher JE, Baserga SJ and Dinman JD. (2003) Delayed rRNA processing results in significant ribosome biogenesis and functional defects. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*. 23:1602-1613.
- Carrasco L, Barbacid M, and Vazquez D. (1973) The tricodermin group of antibiotics, inhibitors of peptide bond formation by eukaryotic ribosomes. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. 312:368-376.
- Grollman AP. (1967) Inhibitors of protein biosynthesis. II. Mode of action of anisomycin. *J Biol Chem.* 274:22423-22427.
- Pestka S, Hishizawa T, and Lessard JL. (1970) Studies on the formation of transfer ribonucleic acid-ribosome complexes. 8. Aminoacyl oligonucleotide binding to ribosomes: characteristics and requirements. *J Biol Chemistry*. 245:6208-6219.

- 50. Carter AP, Clemons WM, Broderson DE, Morgan-Warren RJ, Wimberly BT, Ramakrishnan V. (2000) Functional insights from the structure of the 30S ribosomal subunit and its interactions with antibiotics. *Nature*. 407:340-348.
- 51. Ogle JM, Brodersen DE, Clemons WM, Tarry MJ, Carter AP and Ramakrishnan V. (2001) Recognition of cognate transfer RNA by the 30S ribosomal subunit. *Science*. 292:897-902.
- 52. Vicens Q and Westhof E. (2001) Crystal structure of paromomycin docked into the eubacterial ribosomal decoding A site. *Structure (Camb)*. 9:647-658.